

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Zoologischer Anzeiger

Zoologischer Anzeiger

CrossMark

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jcz

Review Getting to the bottom of anal evolution

Andreas Hejnol*, José M. Martín-Durán

Sars International Centre for Marine Molecular Biology, University of Bergen, Thormøhlensgate, 5008 Bergen, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 January 2015 Received in revised form 22 February 2015 Accepted 24 February 2015 Available online 27 February 2015

Keywords: Digestive tract Evolution Development Anus Gastrulation Blastopore

ABSTRACT

The digestive tract is an essential organ system that allows animals to efficiently digest food and take up nutrients to maintain growth and sustain the body. While some animal groups possess a sack-like gut, others possess a tube shaped alimentary canal with an opening for food uptake, the mouth, and an opening for defecation, the anus. The evolutionary origin of the hindgut with the anal opening remains unclear. Bilaterally symmetric animals (Bilateria) have a great diversity of gut architectures and also show a great variety in the development of this important organ system. In this review, we summarize current knowledge about gut morphology, its development, and the underlying molecular mechanisms of the alimentary canal of Bilateria. We focus on gastrulation, the fate of the blastopore and its connection to hindgut and anus development in different animal taxa. We evaluate scenarios about bilaterian evolution on the basis of recent insights of animal phylogeny and widening knowledge about animal developmental diversity.

© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier GmbH. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction				
2.	Gut morphology in the Bilateria				
	2.1. The beneficial architecture of a unidirectional alimentary canal				
	2.2. The blind gut – a common theme in the Bilateria				
	2.2.1. The case of Acoelomorpha	62			
	2.2.2. The blind gut in "Platyzoa"	64			
	2.3. Transient anuses, new anal openings and multiple losses	65			
3. Hindgut development in Bilateria					
	3.1. Anus development in different animal taxa: timing and relation to the blastopore	65			
3.2. The larval gut and its anus					
	3.3. Conserved molecular program for gut development	67			
	3.3.1. Caudal/cdx	67			
	3.3.2. Brachyury	67			
	3.3.3. FoxA/HNF3	67			
	3.3.4. Other transcription factors	68			
4. The evolutionary origin of the through gut					
	4.1. The 'bursa' and 'ductus intestinalis' in flatworms – a debate between zoologists	68			
	4.2. The evolution of the anus in the last common bilaterian ancestor	69			
5.	Conclusions and perspectives				
	Acknowledgements				
	References	71			

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +47 55 58 43 28.

E-mail addresses: andreas.hejnol@uib.no (A. Hejnol), chema.martin@uib.no (J.M. Martín-Durán).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcz.2015.02.006

0044-5231/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier GmbH. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

1. Introduction

The digestive tract of animals is an essential organ system. It allows animals to efficiently digest food and take up nutrients to maintain growth and sustain the body. The animal gut can have different shapes and different degrees of specializations, and it is often connected to other organ systems, such as excretory organs (nephridia) and gonadal structures (Schmidt-Rhaesa, 2007; Yonge, 1937). While some animal lineages show the absence of a digestive tract (e.g., Porifera, Placozoa, Cestoda, Acanthocephala), others possess a sack-like gut with only one opening to the environment functioning both for food uptake and excretion (e.g., Ctenophora, Cnidaria, Acoelomorpha, Platyhelminthes, Gnathostomulida). The sack-like digestive tract can be elaborated by the evolution of additional branches of the digestive tract (e.g., triclads, polyclads), the evolution of additional holes, and subdivisions by lamellae-like structures.

Many animals possess an alimentary canal (through-gut), with an opening for food uptake, the mouth, and another opening for defecation, the anus. Such unidirectional gut is found in many bilaterian lineages, and is often subdivided in highly specialized regions (such as stomachs), since the food in general passes only once through each area. Specializations in the ectodermal mouth region (i.e., foregut) include muscular (pharynx) or cuticular (teeth) structures that help to grasp, suck and process food. The endodermal midgut is mainly specialized on the secretion of digestive enzymes by gland cells and absorption of nutrients through phagocytotic and pinocytic cells that can be aligned along the epithelia of different regions (stomachs, intestines) (Marianes and Spradling, 2013; Yonge, 1937). The midgut cells thus provide the nutrients to the rest of the body by using a blood-vascular system, coelomic cavities, active transportation, or diffusion. The hindgut and the anal opening are often of ectodermal origin, and correspond to the region where the remnants of food are discharged. A hindgut region is sometimes lacking, as the anal opening can get fused with the openings of the excretory system and/or reproductive organs (cloaca). A one-way gut enables the processing of food much more efficiently and allows the uptake of food while the animal is still digesting. The evolution of such alimentary canal was in some lineages likely connected to the evolution of larger or at least longer body sizes. However, despite this clear advantage for food digestion, some groups have secondarily reduced the alimentary canal to a sacklike gut (e.g., ophiuroid echinoderms, terebratellid brachiopods, nectonemaoid nematomorphs, asplanchnoid rotifers, urodasyoid gastrotrichs).

This review focuses on the morphology, development, and evolution of the opening that makes the one-way gut what it is – the anus. It is the anal opening that discriminates the sac-like gut from the unidirectional alimentary canal, since recent data suggest that the mouth openings of bilaterians seem to be homologous (see Arendt et al., 2001; Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a). Understanding the evolutionary origin(s) of the anus is key to understand the evolution and diversification of animal body plans, and thus, deserves special attention.

2. Gut morphology in the Bilateria

A tripartite digestive tract that comprises an ectodermal foregut or stomodaeum, an endodermal midgut, and an ectodermal hindgut or proctodaeum is widely distributed in the Bilateria (Schmidt-Rhaesa, 2007). However, the digestive tract architectures in this group of animals differ in its cell type composition and lineage specific specializations, which result in an astonishing variation that sometimes makes it difficult to distinguish the different gut parts in certain animals (Fig. 1).

2.1. The beneficial architecture of a unidirectional alimentary canal

The common structure of an alimentary canal is a tube that extends from the anterior mouth to the posterior anus (Schmidt-Rhaesa, 2007). Several sessile taxa, of which some of them live in tubes, possess a so-called U-shaped gut with a curved midgut and the mouth and anus are close to one another. Examples are found in bryozoans, entoprocts, brachiopods, phoronids, pterobranchs, and sipunculans. The close proximity of mouth and anus does not seem to be a problem, with ciliary structures and a concerted regulation preventing the interference between food uptake and defecation. The subdivision of the alimentary canal into foregut, midgut, and hindgut usually follows embryological criteria in which fore- and hindgut are invaginations of the ectoderm and solely the midgut is of endodermal origin. However, in different animal groups this separation is not as "clear cut". In arthropods, the foregut and hindgut are covered with cuticle of ectodermal origin and are molted. Here, cuticular specializations such as the chitinuous ridges of the mastax indicate its ectodermal origin. In other animal groups, it is more difficult to draw a border between the ectodermal and endodermal parts of the digestive system (Zorn and Wells, 2009). The inclusion of molecular data makes the traditional discrimination between midgut and hindgut more difficult since the molecular boundaries do not always coincide with the morphological and developmental boundaries (see e.g., Capitella, Fröbius and Seaver, 2006; Meyer et al., 2010). Furthermore, it has been shown that in some cases a malfunction of a single gene can change the fate of midgut precursors to cells with hindgut properties (see e.g., Reuter, 1994).

Despite the fact that a through gut is of great advantage as it allows the unidirectional movement of the food throughout the body, several mostly-parasitic lineages and several species that live in anoxic environments have secondarily completely reduced the digestive tract. Major groups to name are acanthocephalans, cestodes, *Acholades asteris* (rhabdocoel platyhelminth) (Jennings, 1989), siboglinids (Katz et al., 2011), and also rare cases in other groups such as in oligochaetes (Giere, 1985), rhizocephalan crustaceans, and molluscs (Felbeck, 1983). Such complete loss of the digestive tract is usually connected with the ectodermal uptake of nutrients in parasites, and the hosting of symbiotic bacteria responsible for novel biochemical pathways for reducing sulfate in anoxic environments.

2.2. The blind gut – a common theme in the Bilateria

In other bilaterally symmetrical animals, the digestive tract is composed out of a sack-like gut that lacks the anal opening, similar to that in cnidarians and ctenophores. We find such a blind gut in xenoturbellids, acoelomorphs, gnathostomulids, platyhelminthes and micrognathozoans. It remains an open question whether the absence of an anal opening is plesiomorphic for the Bilateria (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a,b, 2009; Schmidt-Rhaesa, 2007), since it largely depends on progress in resolving the phylogenetic framework of the major bilaterian groups (Dunn et al., 2014; Edgecombe et al., 2011).

2.2.1. The case of Acoelomorpha

Acoelomorphs are simple, bilateral worms that lack coeloms and a through gut (Bourlat and Hejnol, 2009). The lack of an anal opening was one of the few morphological arguments that were used to group acoel flatworms into the Platyhelminthes (Ax, 1996; Ehlers, 1985; Hyman, 1951; von Graff, 1891). With the emergence of the alternative hypothesis of the phylogenetic position of acoels as sister group to all remaining Bilateria (Carranza et al., 1997; Ruiz-Trillo et al., 1999), the absence of an anus in this group of animals was interpreted as a reflection of the bilaterian ancestral state (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a). Given that the acoelomorphs with the single opening to their digestive tract are the sister group to the remaining Bilateria (Nephrozoa), how does their mouth relate to the mouth of other animals? The acoel mouth might correspond to the single opening of the Cnidaria, but it could be that it is the opening that in the last common ancestor of Bilateria gave rise to both the mouth and anus of some of the Nephrozoa by extension and separation along the anterior–posterior axis. The expression of the genes *brachyury* and *goosecoid* has been used to homologize the mouth between hemichordates and annelids: in the mouth, a combined expression of *brachyury* and *goosecoid* is present, while the anus is lacking the *goosecoid* expression and only expresses *brachyury* (Arendt et al., 2001). The closer investigation of these marker genes in acoels reveals that the single opening of the digestive tract of acoelomorphs likely corresponds to the mouth of cnidarians and the remaining Bilateria since it shows the combined expression of *goosecoid* and *brachyury* (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a). Interestingly, marker genes such as *caudal/cdx* and *brachyury* are expressed in the male gonopore of the two acoel species investigated so far, which might correspond to the posterior *brachyury* domain that lacks *goosecoid* expression (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a; Moreno et al., 2011) (Fig. 2). The authors stated the possibility that the posterior expression of these hindgut-markers in the male gonopore of acoels could indicate a close evolutionary relationship of the bialaterian anus and the acoel male gonopore (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a). This is supported



Fig. 1. Gut architecture and hindgut types across animal lineages.

Diversity of gut morphologies and types of hindguts observed in the different metazoan lineages, in relation to the most recent animal phylogeny (Dunn et al., 2014). The diagram is a simplification, and exceptions from the general coding are possible.



Fig. 2. Position of the anus relative to the expression of hindgut markers.

The genes *brachyury* (*bra*), *caudal* (*cdx*), *foxA* and *wnt1* are consistently expressed in the hindgut region of members of the Deuterostomia and Protostomia, as well as in the male copulatory opening of acoels (male symbol), suggesting the last common ancestor of bilateria had a sack-shaped gut and the anus evolved later. Only gene expression related to the hindgut is indicated in this diagram. Areas of color do not represent actual gene expression domains. For references on the expression data, see main text. The asterisk denotes the position of the blastopore, and the dashed line in the cladogram the alternative position of Xenacoelomorpha as members of the Deuterostomia.

by the fact that all acoelomorphs possess a male gonopore through which the male gametes are released. An alternative interpretation of the data would be that the marker genes *cdx* and *brachyury* are not useful for homologizing structures such as the hindgut/male gonopore, and are just related to the process of ectoderm invagination. However, these genes are not expressed in other openings, as for example the female gonopore of acoels, despite the fact that male and female gonopore share similar cell arrangements (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a). Furthermore, within the acoels, the position of the mouth can vary between the very anterior (Hofstenia) and the posterior region (Diopisthoporus) of the body (Hooge, 2001; Rieger et al., 1991). Interestingly, the position of the male gonopore in Hofstenia is just posterior to the anterior mouth and not at the posterior tip of the animal. A more thorough investigation of these species would provide a good test of the hypothesis of an evolutionary relationship between the acoel male gonopore and the bilaterian hindgut (Hejnol and Martindale, 2009). It remains unclear if the same orthologous genes are expressed in the male gonopore of the nemertodermatids, the sister group of Acoela. Nemertodermatids have more plesiomorphic characters than acoels regarding their digestive tract, which is epithelial - just as in other animals - in contrast to the digestive syncytium of acoels (Smith and Tyler, 1985).

While large-scale phylogenomic analyses support the position of the Acoelomorpha + *Xenoturbella* (Xenacoelomorpha) as sister group to all remaining Bilateria (Hejnol et al., 2009; Srivastava et al., 2014), a previous phylogenomic study concludes an affiliation of the Acoelomorpha as sister-group to the Ambulacraria, albeit with low support (Philippe et al., 2011). Although a plesiomorphic absence of the anal opening cannot be excluded, the secondary reduction of the connection with the male gonoduct would seem more likely. In case the acoels are indeed the sister group to all remaining Bilateria, the last common ancestor of Bilateria would likely have possessed a sack-shaped gut and the anus would have been evolved later (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a) (Fig. 2).

2.2.2. The blind gut in "Platyzoa"

Many other bilaterian taxa with a sack-like gut belong to the group Platyzoa (Cavalier-Smith, 1998; Dunn et al., 2014; Giribet et al., 2000, 2009; Hejnol, 2010): Gnathostomulida, Micrognathozoa and Platyhelminthes. Gnathostomulids and Micrognathozoa group together with Rotifera to from the Gnathifera (Ahlrichs, 1995; Dunn et al., 2014; Laumer et al., 2015; Struck et al., 2014; Wey-Fabrizius et al., 2014; Witek et al., 2009, 2008). Most recent molecular analyses support Micrognathozoa - with its single species Limnognathia maerski – as sister group to all remaining Gnathifera (Laumer et al., 2015). Gnathostomulida with its sacklike gut would thus form the sistergroup to the Rotifera, of which most species possess a through gut with a cloaca that connects the gut and excretory organs, and sometimes the female opening (Fig. 1). In this arrangement, it is most parsimonious to assume the lack of the anus to be plesiomorphic for Gnathifera but this also depends on the sistergroup of the Gnathifera. If Platyzoa is monophyletic, this would be the Platyhelminthes and/or Gastrotricha. Platyhelminthes lack an anus, while gastrotrichs primarily have an anus (except Urodasys). The variation of gut morphologies in Platyzoa hinders the reconstruction of the ancestral state for the whole taxon. Furthermore, the most recent molecular phylogenies give less support for a monophyletic Platyzoa (Laumer et al., 2015; Struck et al., 2014). Instead "Platyzoa" renders to be polyphyletic, with Lophotrochozoa (sensu Halanych et al., 1995) nested within the Platyzoa (Laumer et al., 2015; Struck et al., 2014). In case paraphyletic Platyzoa receives further support in the future, it will change our view of the evolution of many body plan features within the Spiralia as a whole. Platyzoa are mainly small, acoelomate taxa and possess rather simply organized organ systems. Lophotrochozoa (Halanych et al., 1995) would have originated from such ancestral microinvertebrate and the rather complex organ systems of annelids and molluscs would be based on convergent evolution (Struck et al., 2014). This result would also imply evidence for the multiple evolution of an anus within the Spiralia.

2.3. Transient anuses, new anal openings and multiple losses

The evolutionary history of digestive tracts is characterized by multiple intraphyletic changes from a unidirectional gut to a sacklike gut and vice versa. There are several cases in which additional openings, connections between openings of different organ systems, and reductions of a through gut to a sack-like gut can be identified. Ultrastructural investigations of some species led to the statements about the presence of a so-called temporary or transient anus in the gnathostomulid Haplognathia (Knauss, 1979) and the micrognathozoan Limnognathia (Kristensen and Funch, 2000). There are no direct observations of defecation through this possible opening and it is the absence of the basement membrane and the intercalation of the cells that led the authors to hypothesize the presence of a transient opening. A recent detailed study of the musculature of Limnognathia suggests that two longitudinal muscles might be involved in the defecation process (Bekkouche et al., 2014). Interestingly, in both species the potential temporal opening is on the dorsal side and not on the ventral or posterior tip of the animal (Knauss, 1979; Kristensen and Funch, 2000), which can indicate that it is not related to a proctodaeum of other animals.

While most Platyhelminthes lack an anus, there are several described cases in which anal openings have evolved independently in this group. Karling (1965) describes for the macrostomid *Haplopharynx* the presence of an anal pore, and several polyclad species possess multiple anal pores on their dorsal side (Kato, 1943; Lang, 1884). This secondary evolution of anal openings seems to be connected with the evolution of the extension of body length (*Haplopharynx*) or overall size of the body (polyclads) (Ehlers, 1985).

In addition to multiple observations of the independent gain of anal openings, there are also multiple cases of losses that resulted in the evolution of a blind gut. In the deuterostomes, several cases are known for echinoderms. The brittle stars (Ophiuroidea) lack an anus (Schechter and Lucero, 1968) and asteroid members of the large taxon Paxillosida possess a blind gut (Jangoux, 1982). Another deuterostome example for the reduction of an anus is found in the fast evolving appendicularians, which usually possess a through gut, but Appendicularia sicula lacks the anal opening (Brena et al., 2003). In the Ecdysozoa some shell-less cirripedes (Trypetesa) and mites (Acari) lack an anus (Mitchell, 1970), marine nematomorphs (*Nectonema*) possess a gut with blind end (Skaling and MacKinnon, 1988), and male nematodes lack an anus. In addition to the wellknown example of the Platyhelminthes, several lineages of the Spiralia have taxa that have reduced an anus: this opening is lacking in rotifers of the group Asplanchna, but here the cloacal opening persists and forms only the opening for excretion and the release of the eggs (Clément and Wurdak, 1991). The gastrotrich Urodasys lacks an anus (Schoepfer-Sterrer, 1974), and in the Brachiopoda the terebratellid brachiopods (such as for example *Terebratalia transversa*) the short gut of the adult has lost its anal opening, in contrast to the linguliform and craniiform brachiopods (James, 1997).

This incomplete list of evolutionary transitions of anal aperture morphology indicates that making assumptions about ease of gain and loss events is problematic. The phylogenetic framework is the basis for the identification of the direction of the evolution of a through gut in each clade, and thus across all Bilateria. In the following sections, we will explore how developmental and molecular data might help clarify these evolutionary transitions.

3. Hindgut development in Bilateria

3.1. Anus development in different animal taxa: timing and relation to the blastopore

One key event in the development of the gut of bilaterians is gastrulation. During this process, the endodermal and mesodermal precursors that will form the future internal organ systems get internalized into the embryo. Gastrulation varies between animals, and a high number of molecular processes and diversity of cellular mechanisms coordinate this process (Stern, 2004). Bilaterians differ from non-bilaterian groups in that they gastrulate at the vegetal pole and not at the animal pole (Martindale and Hejnol, 2009). The site of endomesoderm internalization is called the blastopore, an opening that in some embryos gets coopted either for mouth formation or anus formation (Lankester, 1877).

The development of the digestive tract begins with the separation of the endodermal cells from the mesodermal cells followed by a progressing determination and differentiation of the cells that will form the major portions of the digestive tract. The separation of the mesoderm can already be completed at the beginning of gastrulation, or cells can immigrate as endomesoderm with a later separation inside the embryo, for example by a process called enterocoely (Salvini-Plawen and Splechtna, 1979; Technau and Scholz, 2003). In many cases, the site at which the cells were internalized does not remain open but is closed by the outer, ectodermal cells (Hejnol and Martindale, 2009) - a process that is called blastopore closure. How the anal opening relates to the blastopore and the future digestive tract openings can vary between animals. The formation of the hindgut and the anal opening differs in timing and location in relation to the other embryonic events of digestive tract formation between animal groups (Table 1). In some animals the blastopore gives rise to the later anal opening, which is the case for non-chordate deuterostomes, priapulids, nematomorphs, and some arthropods (Hejnol and Martindale, 2009; Martín-Durán et al., 2012). However, often the blastopore closes as for example in chaetognaths and chordate deuterostomes, or embryonic events such as elongation and axis formation cause a translocation of the blastopore to the future anterior part of the animal. In the two latter cases, the anus is usually formed later during development (Hejnol and Martindale, 2009). The earliest formation of an anal opening occurs in all non-chordate deuterostomic embryos in which the blastopore corresponds to the anus (Table 1). In chordate deuterostomes, the blastopore-anus relationships is modified by the growth of the post-anal tail, and the blastopore closes in all cases and the anus forms elsewhere (Lacalli, 2010). In Branchiostoma, the blastopore - often called 'primary anus' - is overgrown during neurulation and opens into the neurenteric canal. Later, the anus is formed newly on the right side and migrates later in development to the left side of the body (Stokes and Holland, 1995). In most vertebrate embryos the post-anal tail growth impacts the positioning of the cells that were at the edge of the closed blastopore (Bijtel, 1931; Davis and Kirschner, 2000; Kanki and Ho, 1997).

Most embryos form the anal opening rather late in development – usually after the mouth has been formed (Table 1). In embryos that form the anus late in development, the ectoderm forms an indentation that connects to the neighboring endoderm of the gut. In hindguts that are formed by many cells, the different cellular components undergo the usual sequence of organ system formation: the specification of the cells to form the hindgut primordium, followed by cell differentiation that impacts shape and physiological properties (Annunziata and Arnone, 2014; Wu and Lengyel, 1998). Mesodermal musculature and its innervation develop in those cases in which the anal opening has a sphincter (Andrikou et al., 2013; Kondo et al., 1996).

Table 1

Referenced table with timing/position of anus development in relation to gastrulation and blastopore.

Taxon	Embryonic position	Embryonic timing	References
Acoelomorpha*	(Posterior end)	(After hatching)	Børve and Hejnol (2014) and Ladurner and Rieger (2000)
Hemichordata	Blastopore	Gastrulation	Heider (1909)
Echinodermata	Blastopore	Gastrulation	Annunziata et al. (2014)
Craniata	Blastopore	Gastrulation	Gilbert and Raunio (1997)
Urochordata	Posterior end	After mouth	Conklin (1905)
Cephalochordata	Blastopore	Gastrulation	Conklin (1933)
Chaetognatha	Posterior end	After mouth	Hertwig (1880)
Nematoda	Posterior end	After mouth	Schulze and Schierenberg (2011)
Nematomorpha	Blastopore	Gastrulation	Montgomery (1904)
Tardigrada	Posterior end	With mouth	Hejnol and Schnabel (2005)
Onychophora	Posterior end	After mouth	Eriksson and Tait (2012)
Arthropoda	Posterior end	Variable	Anderson (1973) and Gerberding and Patel (2004)
Priapulida	Blastopore	Gastrulation	Martín-Durán and Hejnol (2015)
Loricifera	?	?	-
Kinorhyncha	Posterior end	With mouth	Kozloff (2007)
Bryozoa	Posterior	After mouth	Stricker (1989)
Entoprocta	Posterior	After mouth	Marcus (1939)
Cycliophora	?	?	-
Annelida	Posterior end	After mouth	Anderson (1973)
Mollusca	Posterior	After mouth	Conklin (1897); Lyons et al. (2015)
Nemertea	Posterior	After mouth	Iwata (1985)
Brachiopoda	Posterior-dorsal	After mouth	Nielsen (1991)
Phoronida	Posterior end	After mouth	Rattenbury (1954)
Gastrotricha	Posterior end	After mouth	Sacks (1955) and Teuchert (1968)
Platyhelminthes	-	-	-
Gnathostomulida	-	_	-
Micrognathozoa	-	-	-
Rotifera	Posterior end	After mouth	Zelinka (1891)

3.2. The larval gut and its anus

Relevant for the discussion of the evolution of the alimentary canal, is the question of how the larval gut of animals with biphasic life cycle is related to the adult gut. In planktotrophic larva, the larval gut is the first alimentary canal that is formed during gastrulation and this raises the question of the comparability of the larval gut with the gut of the adult. Larval planktotrophy has played an important role in discussions about the evolution of the biphasic life cycle (Strathmann, 1993), and some scenarios that suggest a 'larva'-like ancestor of the Bilateria (Nielsen, 2009). Can the larva be seen as a 'second body' plan and thus a different entity to the adult reproductive stage? How different is the formation of the larval gut in comparison to the formation of the gut of direct developers? We face a fascinating diversity of different life cycle strategies in many animals and on the first view it seems difficult to find a common pattern. However, when we focus only on the digestive tract, and more specifically on the hindgut, a comparison between taxa might be more feasible. Fig. 1 summarizes taxa that possess a larval gut or anlage, and indicates taxa in which the larval gut is at least to a large part transferred to the adult. Only in very rare cases is the larval gut a specific larval organ system such as in the bryozoan cyphonautes (Stricker, 1989). Echinoderms transfer only the endodermal stomach to the adult, while ectodermal portions are discarded during metamorphosis (Chia and Burke, 1978). Descriptions of the 'larva' as separate body plan might be justified for some taxa for example echinoderms (Raff, 2008), but not for most of the animals. Echinoderms also seem to be the outliers in mouth development, while the larva still has the larval mouth, a second mouth can be formed in the rudimentary adult which suggests that a mouth-specific developmental program can be active in the same individual at two different places (Lacalli, 2014). Despite its different development and role in lecithotrophic and planktotrophic larva, the gut is patterned by the same genes as the gut of direct developing species. However, it seems the case at least for some of the spiralian larvae, such as the nemertean pillidium and various polyclad larvae, that they are new 'intercalated' dispersal stages not related to other larvae (Maslakova, 2010; Rawlinson, 2010, 2014). Interestingly, in

the nemertean feeding larva, the pillidium, the gut is only sack-like and lacks the anal opening which is only formed after metamorphosis (Norenburg and Stricker, 2002). However, what defines a larva is for most cases blurred by the fact that the amount of larval material that is transferred to the adult differs even between closely related species. The knowledge about the transition of 'larval' organs to the adult is fundamental for the classic discussion about the 'larva-first'-hypothesis (Page, 2009). Pure 'larval' organs are rare and are limited to apical organs, ciliary bands and specialized portions of the nervous system (Strathmann, 1993). Other 'larval' organs can be often seen as heterochronic ('paedomorphic') adult organs, which develop already in the dispersal stage before they get modified to the adult morphology during morphogenesis. In other cases, larval organs can be formed by the recruitment of adult patterning systems to the larval stages (Love et al., 2008; Raff, 2008). In most cases, the larval formation of the gut corresponds to the formation of the adult digestive tract since it will get transferred to the adult. This means that most cases allow a direct comparison of the molecular digestive tract patterning of the larval gut with the adult gut since both are identical. Recent studies indeed show that similarities in the molecular system between direct and indirect developers are high (Annunziata et al., 2014). However, care must be taken when comparing anlagen of the adult gut present in larvae, since they are often non-functional, rudimentary anlagen. We can summarize, however, that the larval gut including its anal opening - when present - is transferred to the adult gut in most cases (Fig. 1). The exception from this general observation is the bryozoan cyphonautes in which the whole gut including the anus is discarded during metamorphosis. Studies of gene expression of hindgut markers in different cases of planktotrophic and lecithotrophic larvae are still scarce so that a general picture cannot be drawn. However, echinoderms that discard nearly the whole digestive tract still show the hindgut patterning genes expressed in an expected pattern (Annunziata et al., 2014). The lecitotrophic coronate larva of the bryozoan Bugula neritina that lacks an anlage of the gut, shows cdx expression in the blastemic cells that give rise to the adult gut (Fuchs et al., 2011). These data show that the expression patterns of hindgut genes can vary according to the future fate

of the larval digestive tract and each case needs to be examined closely.

3.3. Conserved molecular program for gut development

The molecular background of the development of the digestive tract in bilaterians has been mainly studied in the classical model systems (Annunziata et al., 2014; Marianes and Spradling, 2013; Roberts, 2000; Sheaffer and Kaestner, 2012; Stainier, 2002, 2005) and to some extent also in other species. Despite the morphological, developmental and lineage specific differences in these species, a set of conserved transcription factors and signaling molecules seem to play a common role in gut formation across bilaterians (Heath, 2010; Lengyel and Iwaki, 2002). However, the evolutionary distance between the classical model systems and their usually common fast rate of molecular evolution, which is often combined with excessive gene loss, limits the amount of genes that are available as candidate markers for comparisons with non-model species. In addition, there are a number of lineage specific genes that play an important role in hindgut formation in Drosophila, but these genes are absent in non-arthropods (Domazet-Loso and Tautz, 2003). In Drosophila for example torso, huckebein, and bowl are lineage specific genes of arthropods or ecdysozoans and have been recruited for the digestive tract later during evolution (Iwaki et al., 2001). We can expect that future investigations of non-model species will provide a more extensive list of candidate genes that have been lost in the species Caenorhabditis elegans and Drosophila melanogaster (Ruvkun and Hobert, 1998). Conserved transcription factors and signaling molecules in the posterior region of the alimentary canal are caudal/cdx, brachyury, Wnt ligands, even-skipped/evx, foxA/HNF3 and posterior Hox genes (Fig. 3). The expression of these 'hindgut' markers is not germ layer specific: in vertebrates, these markers are expressed in the posterior endoderm, while in arthropods in the posterior ectodermal part of the gut, and in Caenorhabditis in the endo- or ectoderm. It is thus often mainly the combination of the expression patterns of these genes in comparable morphological structures that can hint to homology assumptions. One has to keep in mind that these genes are not only playing a role in digestive tract formation, but are additionally involved in multiple developmental processes and essential for the formation of other germ layers and organ systems. Brachyury, for example has a well-known additional role in mesoderm specification and when embryonic cells undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition (Technau, 2001; Turner et al., 2014). In the following sections, we will discuss the role of these genes in hindgut development in more detail and we include descriptions of expression patterns in bilaterian outgroups.

3.3.1. Caudal/cdx

The ParaHox gene caudal/cdx encodes a homeodomain transcription factor that plays an important role in hindgut patterning in vertebrates and insects (Duprey et al., 1988; Wu and Lengyel, 1998). The three ParaHox genes gsx, xlox and cdx have been affiliated with the evolution of anterior to posterior gut patterning across the Bilateria (Holland, 2001, 2015), although several bilaterian lineages have lost one or more of the ParaHox genes (Fröbius and Seaver, 2006; Martín-Durán and Romero, 2011). As shown in Fig. 3, the gene *cdx* is present in most bilaterian genomes sequenced so far, and its hindgut expression is largely consistent in all investigated species (Annunziata et al., 2013; Brooke et al., 1998; Cole et al., 2009; Edgar et al., 2001; Fröbius and Seaver, 2006; Hryniuk et al., 2012; Hui et al., 2009; Ikuta et al., 2013; Joly et al., 1992; Katsuyama et al., 1999; Kulakova et al., 2008; Martín-Durán et al., 2012; Samadi and Steiner, 2010; Schulz et al., 1998; Wu and Lengyel, 1998). In mouse, the *cdx2* paralog is expressed in the early posterior endoderm, and functions as the upstream regulatory gene that promotes intestinal cell fates (Heath, 2010). In Drosophila, cdx is expressed as a

gradient with its highest levels at the posterior pole of the embryo, and is essential for the invagination of the hindgut primordium (Wu and Lengyel, 1998). In C. elegans, the cdx ortholog pal-1 is involved in rectum development, among other functions (Edgar et al., 2001). Altogether, expression and functional data strongly support a conserved role of caudal/cdx genes in developing posterior structures, and in particular the hindgut region. Outside the Bilateria reports about the presence of a clear *cdx* ortholog are ambiguous. It is absent from the placozoan genome, and in the genome of the anthozoan cnidarian, Nematostella vectensis, a gene NVHD065 which shares features with the bilaterian parahox genes Xlox and Cdx has been identified (Ryan et al., 2007). NVHD065 is expressed asymmetrically along two mesenteries and its expression is difficult to relate to any pattern in bilaterians (Ryan et al., 2007). More recently, a possible *cdx* ortholog has been detected in calcisponges where it is uniformly expressed in the whole choanoderm (Fortunato et al., 2014). However, its relation to the bilaterian cdx remains only weakly supported and further investigations are required to confirm its orthology.

3.3.2. Brachyury

Brachyury is related to gastrulation and digestive tract development in most metazoans (Technau, 2001). The expression of brachyury around the blastopore in cnidarians (Scholz and Technau, 2003) has been interpreted as a support for a common origin of the bilaterian mouth and anus from the single cnidarian opening to the digestive tract (Arendt, 2004). Indeed, in some animals, such as echinoderms, hemichordates, annelids, and molluscs, brachyury is expressed in both the mouth and the anus (Arendt et al., 2001; Boyle et al., 2014; Gross and McClay, 2001; Lartillot et al., 2002b; Röttinger and Martindale, 2011; Tagawa et al., 1998), with the mouth domain lost in Ecdysozoa (Kispert et al., 1994; Martín-Durán et al., 2012; Singer et al., 1996) and Chordata (Holland et al., 1995), except urochordates (Yasuo and Satoh, 1994) (Fig. 3). On the other hand, chaetognaths seem to have lost the hindgut expression (Takada et al., 2002). The variability of brachyury expression may indicate a diminishing role for this gene in foregut and/or hindgut formation in several bilaterian lineages (Arenas-Mena, 2013). In this regard, brachyury was lost in the lineage to the nematode Caenorhabditis (Pocock et al., 2004; Woollard and Hodgkin, 2000) and also in the lineage to planarians (Martín-Durán and Romero, 2011). While in Platyhelminthes this loss can be correlated with the possible loss of an anus, nematodes develop a hindgut despite the absence of brachyury. However, the variability of expression domains and developmental functions reported for brachyury likely indicates that this gene is not a specific marker for mouth and/or anus. Instead, brachyury seems to have a conserved role in early stages of mesoderm determination and internalization (Marcellini, 2006; Technau, 2001; Technau and Scholz, 2003), and it is thus, the diversity of modes of mesoderm development that accounts for the variability in the expression domains of this gene across metazoan lineages.

3.3.3. FoxA/HNF3

The forkhead-box containing protein *foxA* (also known as *hepa-tocyte nuclear factor 3*, *HNF3*) has a broadly conserved expression in the endoderm and digestive system of metazoan embryos (Boyle et al., 2014; Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a; Martindale et al., 2004), and it is considered a core regulator of the endodermal gene regulatory network (Davidson et al., 2002). It is thus expressed in the hindgut region in some protostome embryos (Azzaria et al., 1996; Boyle and Seaver, 2008, 2010; Lartillot et al., 2002a; Martín-Durán et al., 2012; Weigel et al., 1989), echinoderms (Annunziata et al., 2014), cephalochordates (Shimeld, 1997), and urochordates (Di Gregorio et al., 2001). Moreover, *foxA* is also expressed in the single gut opening of Platyhelminthes (Adler et al., 2014; Martín-



Fig. 3. Expression of hindgut genes in bilaterian lineages.

Presence/absence of expression of developmental genes associated with hindgut formation in different lineages of the bilateria. Full dots indicate presence of expression, absence of dot indicates lack of data and/or absence of expression in the studied species. For the Platyhelminthes (taxon with a sack-like gut), the circle in *foxA* indicates expression in the single gut opening. See main text for references.

Durán et al., 2010) and cnidarians (Martindale et al., 2004). It is difficult to assign a specific role in hindgut patterning for *foxA*, since the transcription factor seems to play a general role in digestive tract and endoderm patterning.

3.3.4. Other transcription factors

Apart from the transcription factors caudal/cdx, brachyury, and foxA, a variety of developmental genes are related to the formation of the hindgut (Fig. 3). For instance, the homeobox gene even-skipped/evx is consistently required for posterior and hindgut development in bilaterian lineages (Ahringer, 1996; Brown et al., 1997; de Rosa et al., 2005; Ferrier et al., 2001; Pyati et al., 2006; Ransick et al., 2002; Seaver and Kaneshige, 2006), and the NK gene NK2.1 is expressed in the hindgut regions of hemichordates, cephalochordates, and annelids (Boyle et al., 2014; Takacs et al., 2002; Venkatesh et al., 1999). The paired gene orthopedia (otp) is required for hindgut specification in Drosophila (Iwaki et al., 2001), and it is also expressed in this region in hemichordates (Lowe et al., 2003). The forkhead domain containing protein foxD seems to be expressed in the hindgut region of the Deuterostomia (Fritzenwanker et al., 2014; Imai et al., 2002; Odenthal and Nüsslein-Volhard, 1998; Pohl and Knöchel, 2002; Tu et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2002), but seems to be absent from this region in the lineages of the Protostomia studied so far. The FGF ligand FGF8/17/18 is also expressed in and associated with the development of the posterior gut in D. melanogaster (Stathopoulos et al., 2004), and chordates (Bertrand et al., 2011; Imai et al., 2004; Maruoka et al., 1998). In vertebrates, Hedgehog signaling is involved in cloaca development (Parkin et al., 2009; Seifert et al., 2009). Finally, evidence from multiple bilaterian lineages supports the role of Wnt ligands in posterior embryonic development, placing the canonical Wnt pathway as an upstream regulator of *caudal/cdx* (Martin and Kimelman, 2009; Petersen and Reddien, 2009). Altogether, the expression of these developmental genes in the hindgut region, which can be extremely evolutionarily conserved in some cases and not so much in many others, demonstrate how developmental pathways are prone to evolutionary modifications, integrating novel genes into existing networks, but also losing and/or replacing key elements. Higher taxon sampling across metazoans will reveal a better understanding of these processes and how these integration and disintegration happens on the molecular level and finally how this is connected to the morphological outcome. The use of marker genes as a support for homology statements has to be made with care. Since so far only a handful of markers are known, only the combination of their expression in a comparable morphological structure can hint for common ancestry. Future tissue and single-cell sequencing efforts might reveal additional marker genes that can support homology hypotheses, that can be tested with the use of a solid phylogenetic framework.

4. The evolutionary origin of the through gut

The origin of the through gut is mainly a question about the evolution of the anus, since morphology and gene expression data suggest that the mouth opening of the major groups of bilaterians is homologous (Arendt et al., 2001; Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a; Martindale and Hejnol, 2009) [for chordates see discussion in Lacalli (2010)]. Although a specific discussion of this subject has not been specifically addressed yet, it has been an important element of several hypotheses about the evolution of bilaterian organ systems and body plans.

4.1. The 'bursa' and 'ductus intestinalis' in flatworms – a debate between zoologists

The origin of the anus has been subject to a historical debate between mainly german zoologists in the 1950s and early 1960s. During this pre-cladistic era, zoologists tried to explain evolution by assembling stages of evolutionary transformations of observed morphologies of different species ("evolutionsreihen", see Remane, 1971). This misleading approach also provoked the formulation of 'evolutionary trends', which usually lead from simple to complex. In addition, these hypotheses about assumed transformations were used to assemble the phylogenetic relationships of animals. With Willi Hennig's, revolutionary introduction of phylogenetic systematics (cladistics) (Hennig, 1950, 1966), evolutionary biology received its scientific ground, and 'tree-thinking' replaced the thinking of evolutionary series and trends (Gee, 1999). The progress in molecular phylogenetics allows for the first time the assembly of the animal tree of life, which is independent from morphological characters, and thus, avoids the danger of circulatory reasoning (Dunn et al., 2014). Despite the progress, we repeat key-arguments from this debate, since they still play a role when discussing the evolution of an anus in the light of new data and the better knowledge of animal phylogenetic relationships.

In this debate, Platyhelminthes and Acoela were taken as the example to discuss the likeliness of the gain or loss of an anus (Reisinger, 1961). The phylogenetic position of Platyhelminthes, including the possible exclusion of the Acoela from the Platyhelminthes (Remane, 1951), played a major role in the discussion. Some flatworms (e.g., Coelogynopora [Proseriata], and Tricladida) possess a connection - Ductus genito-intestinalis - between the gut and the complex genital system (bursal organ) with female and male openings (Steinböck, 1924) (Fig. 4). The connection was thought to function as a pathway by which the fertilized eggs are transported to the gut to get extruded through the mouth opening of the adult. The female opening is in many cases functional for taking up sperm to fertilize the eggs, which later get transferred to the digestive tract. In some cases, however, the female opening is also used for laying the eggs. Important is that the blind gut is connected to the exterior at the posterior end over this ductus intestinalis. The evolutionary interpretation of the ductus intestinalis depends on the general view of the phylogeny and evolution of animals: Remane (1951), as a proponent of the 'Enterocoely-Hypothesis' which implies a rather complex coelomate ancestor, saw this architecture as remnant of the loss of an anus and thus as remnant of a hindgut. Steinböck (1966) and Karling (1940), who interpreted platyhelminthes and acoels as evolutionary ancestral groups with simple body plans, saw the structure as an evolutionary intermediate stage to gain a connection of the genital system with the digestive tract (Reisinger, 1961; Steinböck, 1966). The arguments raised for the different hypotheses were mainly on the morphological level, but also included ontogenetic arguments mainly referring to the 'biogenetic law' of recapitulation of Ernst Haeckel (1866). For example, Remane (1951) argued against Steinböck's view (Fig. 4) that the bursa of platyhelminthes never develops from the digestive tract, and thus, can not have its evolutionary origin in the endoderm since it is not 'recapitulated' in the ontogeny (Reisinger, 1961). Steinböck (1966) rejected this argument by pointing out that the lack of an ontogenetic recapitulation is not a valid argument and brought the example that the syncytial gut of acoels also does not undergo an epithelial developmental stage, despite the common view that the syncytial gut of acoels is derived from an epithelial gut of an ancestor (Reisinger, 1961). The validity of ontogeny for establishing homology hypotheses has been questioned by developmental biologists from the beginning, and it is now clear that there is not an ontogenetic 'criterion' for the homology of adult structures (Scholtz, 2005; Wilson, 1894).

The dispute can teach us that the lack of a solid phylogenetic framework makes it impossible to solve the debate and reconstruct the direction of evolution. All opponents struggled in their argumentation because the phylogenetic position of the many flatworm species that have been carefully examined regarding the bursa and hindgut morphology was unclear. Because the theoretical toolkit of cladistics, which makes the development of testable hypotheses possible, was not fully established yet, the debate stagnated in different opinions standing against each other. However, the dispute teaches us that the broad knowledge of animal diversity can reveal insights into evolution that cannot be gained by studying a handful of representative model systems in greater detail. With the current decay of taxonomical knowledge and expertise in academia, future researchers will depend more and more on reassessing the old literature. The value of the debate between Remane, Marcus, Steinböck, Karling and Reisinger for today's open questions about the evolution of anal openings lies in the list of examples for different hindgut and gonadal architectures within and outside the platyhelminths and acoels (Fig. 4). This variation in animals indicates that ectodermal-, gonadal-connections with the endoderm can arise relatively 'easy' in evolution and point to a common cellular mechanism of the fusion of epithelia. Using the different examples, we can now phrase testable hypotheses, investigate these examples with molecular tools, and test the hypotheses on the background of an improving phylogenetic framework.

4.2. The evolution of the anus in the last common bilaterian ancestor

Despite the fact that fate of the blastopore is highly variable between animals (Hejnol and Martindale, 2009), it plays a key role in some of the different scenarios about 'major' transitions in animal evolution that have been proposed for more than a century (Arendt and Nübler-Jung, 1997; Hyman, 1951; Jägersten, 1972; see for example Lankester, 1877; Malakhov, 1977; Martindale and Hejnol, 2009; Masterman, 1898; Nielsen and Nørrevang, 1985; Salvini-Plawen, 1978; Sedgwick, 1884; von Graff, 1891). The blastopore is an organizing 'control center' of the embryo and a site at which a number of essential decisions and processes occur that vastly influence the future outcome: internalization of precursor blastomeres, differentiation and separation of the germ layers, axis determination and elongation (Solnica-Krezel and Sepich, 2012; Stern, 2004). In addition, it sometimes gives rise to either mouth or anus - or just disappears. This set of events that impact body plan organization naturally provokes hypotheses about its impact for the evolutionary change of body plans (Wolpert, 1992). It has been shown that the different processes occurring during gastrulation are orchestrated by a complex molecular and cell biological machinery (Stern, 2004), but their mostly simultaneous occurrence has been taken as a recapitulation of a major evolutionary event that transforms a simple ancestor into a complex one - for example, in the enterocoely hypothesis and its derivatives (Remane, 1950). The multiple innovations such as bilateral symmetry, mesoderm, brains, alimentary canal etc., that are necessary to transform the cnidarian-bilaterian stem species into a complex last common ancestor of protostomes and deuterostomes have been incorporated in different scenarios (De Robertis and Sasai, 1996; Hejnol and Martindale, 2008b). An essential part of these scenarios is the evolution of the alimentary canal. How did the sack-like gut with one opening get transformed to the alimentary canal of most bilaterians? How did the other opening that forms an additional connection of the ectoderm and endoderm evolve? A common theme relates Sedgwick (1884) and Masterman (1898) ideas that the elongation of the blastopore along the future anterior-posterior axis followed by its lateral closure leaving the two ends open which will give rise to mouth and the anus, showing that both orifices share a common origin. This process has been coined 'amphistomy' (Arendt and Nübler-Jung, 1997) in reference to the embryonic processes protostomy and deuterostomy. Although no description of a bona fide amphistomy exists for any animal embryo (Hejnol and Martindale, 2009; van den Biggelaar et al., 2002), it provides one possible explanation of how to transform a cnidarian-like ancestor with a single gut opening into an ancestor that has a gut with two openings. These scenarios imply that the mouth and anus originated simultaneously from the single opening of the last common cnidarian-bilaterian ancestor and that this process is also connected to the evolution of bilateral symmetry (Arendt, 2004). Expression patterns of bilaterian marker genes do not give a clear picture: a clear caudal/cdx ortholog is missing from cnidarians and the closest related ortholog in N. vectensis, homeodomain gene NVHD065, is asymmetrically expressed in the endoderm (Ryan et al., 2007). Orthologs of foxA and brachyury are expressed in





Fig. 4. Hypotheses about the evolution of the platyhelminth connection between gonads and digestive tract.

(A) According to Karling (1940), the bursa evolved from the genital system following this sequence of events: separate gonadal system for male (v) and female gonads (\mathcal{Q}) (a) got connected with each other (b) and with the digestive tract (c) to resorb the sperm. The organ for the resorption of excessive sperm got elaborated (d) and after its digestive function disappeared, the ductus for the release of oocytes and connection with the gut remained (e). (B) According to Remane (1951), the bursa evolved from the hindgut of a coelomate ancestor as follows: at the beginning the hindgut and the female genital duct were connected in a cloaca (a). Then, the gut lost its function as transfer of digesting material (b) and the cloaca area that corresponds to the hindgut (bursa) acquired the function to digest material that accidentally entered there, such as remnants of sperm and yolk. This material could still be in some cases given to the gut by vacuoles. The bursa became the receptaculum seminis (c) and ducts from this cavity to the female gonad developed (d), until the receptaculum seminis formed its own channel (e). (C) According to Steinböck (1966), the bursa evolved from the endoderm: initially, the ancestor had a sack like gut through which oocytes were laid (a). After the female gonad gained complexity as an organ (b), a portion of the gut developed to a bulb-like structure (bursa, in c) and a genital tract and gonopore evolved (d). In some lineages, the endodermal bursa separates from the gut (e), resulting in the secondary evolution of a blind gut. Platyhelminth examples for different architectures: A(a) accels, A(d), B(a), C(c): Myozona, Promacrostomum (Macrostomida), *Entergonia* (Polycladida), *Cologynopra* (Proseriata) A(c), B(a, b): Kambanella, Pseudograffilla (Rhabdocoela), B(c), C(e): some triclads and polyclads, B(d) and B(e) some rhabdocoels (see references in original literature).

Nematostella in portions of the endoderm in the region of the mouth (Martindale et al., 2004; Scholz and Technau, 2003). These data do not give clear evidence for the amphistomy scenario, nor do they speak against it.

With the possible placement of the Acoelomorpha as sister group to the remaining Bilateria the so-called 'acoeloid-planuloid' hypothesis from von Graff (1891) and Hyman (1951) was revisited (Baguñá and Riutort, 2004; Hejnol and Martindale, 2008b). This hypothesis implies a direct homology of the single mouth opening of the Cnidaria with the single opening of the Acoelomorpha. The anus would have evolved later, and this process is not connected with the transition from radial to bilateral symmetry, since acoelomorphs are bilaterally symmetric. However, this case would still include the possibility that the mouth of acoelomorphs would have extended afterwards and undergone the process of 'amphistomy' later. However, the gene expression of the acoel orthologs of brachyury and cdx in the posterior male gonopore suggests instead that there is an evolutionary relationship between the bilaterian hindgut and the acoel gonopore (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a; Moreno et al., 2011). If acoelomorphs are indeed the sister group to the remaining Bilateria, the 'amphistomy'-based scenarios would be rejected. However, the case remains open since the phylogenetic position of Acoelomorpha remains uncertain (Dunn et al., 2014; Hejnol et al., 2009; Philippe et al., 2011; Srivastava et al., 2014). It is also vague how the acoel gonopore should be related to the bilaterian hindgut. A possible scenario could be the connection of the male reproductive organ system to the bilaterian digestive tract forming a cloaca (Hejnol and Martindale, 2008a, 2009) which is fundamentally different from the scenarios discussed in the context of the ductus intestinalis. This would thus provide an alternative hypothesis, which would connect first with the male reproductive system with the gut and later with the female reproductive system. The plausibility of the different ideas about the origin of the anus is clearly affected by the phylogenetic position of the Acoelomorpha,

but also the internal relationships of the remaining Bilateria impact the direction of evolution regarding gains and losses.

5. Conclusions and perspectives

Despite the progress in solving animal phylogenetic relationships, a broader taxon sampling in embryological studies and the inclusion of more molecular data is needed to solve the question about the (single or multiple) origin of the bilaterian hindgut. We can expect to come closer to a solution in the next decade, since the tools are now readily available. New developments in sequencing technologies, microscopy, sequencing technologies and gene manipulation, open the opportunity to study the development of animals in much greater detail. Advancing live imaging technologies in three dimensions allow to trace embryonic event is much greater detail (Hejnol and Schnabel, 2006; Reynaud et al., 2015). Single-cell and embryonic tissue sequencing are promising technologies to characterize better the molecular background of cell differentiation and will likely lead to the discovery of new marker genes (Crosetto et al., 2015; Shapiro et al., 2013). Such detailed studies of a larger diversity of animal taxa will ultimately lead to the necessary refinement of the vocabulary we use for describing the development of animals. The artificial subdivision into 'types' will likely be rendered useless, and previously assumed developmental constraints will disappear to the same degree the knowledge about developmental diversity grows. The results will lead to a better understanding how genes are contributing for shaping morphology and possibly to insights how this is connected to the evolution of organ systems such as the through gut. Fast progress in phylogenomic methods and genome sequencing will help to solve the animal relationships and will thus provide the framework for the interpretation of the developmental and morphological data from an evolutionary perspective. This will allow us not only to identify the time and sequence of the evolutionary changes in hindgut architecture, but also the identification of the molecular and cellular mechanisms.

Acknowledgements

The manuscript has been partly presented as keynote lecture on the III International Congress on Invertebrate Morphology in Berlin 2014. We thank the main organizers of the meeting Gerhard Scholtz, Thomas Stach and Carsten Lüter. JMMD is supported by Marie Curie IEF 329024 fellowship. The study received support by a Marie Curie International Re-Integration grant to AH (FP7-PEOPLE-2009-RG 256450). We are indebted to Kevin Pang for improving the manuscript. We acknowledge furthermore our team at the Sars Centre and friends and family members for interesting and insightful discussions about this subject.

References

- Adler, C.E., Seidel, C.W., McKinney, S.A., Sanchez Alvarado, A., 2014. Selective amputation of the pharynx identifies a *FoxA*-dependent regeneration program in planaria. eLife 3, e02238.
- Ahlrichs, W., 1995. Ultrastruktur und Phylogenie von Seison nebaliae (Grube 1859) und Seison annulatus (Claus 1876). Georg-August-Universität, Göttingen.
- Ahringer, J., 1996. Posterior patterning by the Caenorhabditis elegans even-skipped homolog vab-7. Genes Dev. 10, 1120–1130.
- Anderson, D.T., 1973. Embryology and Phylogeny in Annelids and Arthropods. Pergamon Press, Oxford.
- Andrikou, C., Iovene, E., Rizzo, F., Oliveri, P., Arnone, M.I., 2013. Myogenesis in the sea urchin embryo: the molecular fingerprint of the myoblast precursors. EvoDevo 4, 33.
- Annunziata, R., Arnone, M.I., 2014. A dynamic regulatory network explains ParaHox gene control of gut patterning in the sea urchin. Dev. 141, 2462–2472.
- Annunziata, R., Martinez, P., Arnone, M.I., 2013. Intact cluster and chordate-like expression of ParaHox genes in a sea star. BMC Biol. 11, 68.
- Annunziata, R., Perillo, M., Andrikou, C., Cole, A.G., Martinez, P., Arnone, M.I., 2014. Pattern and process during sea urchin gut morphogenesis: the regulatory landscape. Genesis 52, 251–268.
- Arenas-Mena, C., 2013. Brachyury, Tbx2/3 and sall expression during embryogenesis of the indirectly developing polychaete Hydroides elegans. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 57, 73–83.
- Arendt, D., 2004. Comparative aspects of gastrulation. In: Stern, C.D. (Ed.), Gastrulation. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York, pp. 679–693.
- Arendt, D., Nübler-Jung, K., 1997. Dorsal or ventral: similarities in fate maps and gastrulation patterns in annelids, arthropods and chordates. Mech. Dev. 61, 7–21.
- Arendt, D., Technau, U., Wittbrodt, J., 2001. Evolution of the bilaterian larval foregut. Nature 409, 81–85.
- Ax, P., 1996. Multicellular Animals. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Azzaria, M., Goszczynski, B., Chung, M.A., Kalb, J.M., McGhee, J.D., 1996. A fork head/HNF-3 homolog expressed in the pharynx and intestine of the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. Dev. Biol. 178, 289–303.
- Baguñá, J., Riutort, M., 2004. The dawn of bilaterian animals: the case of acoelomorph flatworms. BioEssays 26, 1046–1057.
- Bekkouche, N., Kristensen, R.M., Hejnol, A., Sørensen, M., Worsaae, K., 2014. Detailed reconstruction of the musculature in *Limnognathia maerski* (micrognathozoa) and comparison with other gnathifera. Front. Zool. 11, 71.
- Bertrand, S., Camasses, A., Somorjai, I., Belgacem, M.R., Chabrol, O., Escande, M.L., Pontarotti, P., Escriva, H., 2011. Amphioxus FGF signaling predicts the acquisition of vertebrate morphological traits. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 9160–9165
- Bijtel, J.H., 1931. Über die Entwicklung des Schwanzes bei Amphibien. W Roux' Arch. Entwicklungsmechanik 125, 448–486.
- Børve, A., Hejnol, A., 2014. Development and juvenile anatomy of the nemertodermatid *Meara stichopi* (Bock) Westblad 1949 (acoelomorpha). Front. Zool. 11, 50.
- Bourlat, S.J., Hejnol, A., 2009. Acoels. Curr. Biol. 19, R279–280.
- Boyle, M.J., Seaver, E.C., 2008. Developmental expression of FoxA and gata genes during gut formation in the polychaete annelid: Capitella sp. I. Evol. Dev. 10, 89–105.
- Boyle, M.J., Seaver, E.C., 2010. Expression of *FoxA* and *GATA* transcription factors correlates with regionalized gut development in two lophotrochozoan marine worms: *Chaetopterus* (annelida) and *Themiste lageniformis* (Sipuncula). EvoDevo 1, 2.
- Boyle, M.J., Yamaguchi, E., Seaver, E.C., 2014. Molecular conservation of metazoan gut formation: evidence from expression of endomesoderm genes in *Capitella teleta* (annelida). EvoDevo 5, 39.
- Brena, C., Cima, F., Burighel, P., 2003. The exceptional blind gut of Appendicularia sicula (appendicularia, tunicata). Zool. Anz. 242, 169–177.
- Brooke, N.M., Garcia-Fernàndez, J., Holland, P.W.H., 1998. The ParaHox gene cluster is an evolutionary sister of the Hox gene cluster. Nature 392, 920–922.

- Brown, S.J., Parrish, J.K., Beeman, R.W., Denell, R.E., 1997. Molecular characterization and embryonic expression of the *even-skipped* ortholog of *Tribolium castaneum*. Mech. Dev. 61, 165–173.
- Carranza, S., Baguñá, J., Riutort, M., 1997. Are the Platyhelminthes a monophyletic primitive group? An assessment using 18S rDNA sequences. Mol. Biol. Evol. 14, 485–497.
- Cavalier-Smith, T., 1998. A revised six-kingdom system of life. Biol. Rev. 73, 203–266.
- Chia, F.-S., Burke, R.D., 1978. Echinoderm metamorphosis: fate of larval structures. In: Chia, F.-S., Rice, M.E. (Eds.), Settlement and Metamorphosis of Marine Invertebrate Larvae. Elsevier, New York, pp. 219–234.
- Clément, P., Wurdak, E., 1991. Rotifera. In: Harrison, F.W., Ruppert, E.E. (Eds.), Microscopic Anatomy of Invertebrates. Wiley Liss Inc., New York, pp. 219–297.
- Cole, A.G., Rizzo, F., Martinez, P., Fernandez-Serra, M., Arnone, M.I., 2009. Two ParaHox genes, *SpLox* and *SpCdx*, interact to partition the posterior endoderm in the formation of a functional gut. Dev. 136, 541–549.
- Conklin, E.G., 1897. The embryology of Crepidula. J. Morphol. 13, 1-226.
- Conklin, E.G., 1905. The organization and cell-lineage of the ascidian egg. J. Acad. Nat. Sci. Philadelphia 13, 1–119.
- Conklin, E.G., 1933. The embryology of amphioxus. J. Morphol. 54, 69–151. Crosetto, N., Bienko, M., van Oudenaarden, A., 2015. Spatially resolved
- transcriptomics and beyond. Nat. Rev. Genet. 16, 57–66.
- Davidson, E.H., Rast, J.P., Oliveri, P., Ransick, A., Calestani, C., Yuh, C.H., Minokawa, T., Amore, G., Hinman, V., Arenas-Mena, C., Otim, O., Brown, C.T., Livi, C.B., Lee, P.Y., Revilla, R., Schilstra, M.J., Clarke, P.J., Rust, A.G., Pan, Z., Arnone, M.I., Rowen, L., Cameron, R.A., McClay, D.R., Hood, L., Bolouri, H., 2002. A provisional regulatory gene network for specification of endomesoderm in the sea urchin embryo. Dev. Biol. 246, 162–190.
- Davis, R.L., Kirschner, M.W., 2000. The fate of cells in the tailbud of *Xenopus laevis*. Dev. 127, 255–267.
- De Robertis, E.M., Sasai, Y., 1996. A common plan for dorsoventral patterning in bilateria. Nature 380, 37–40.
- de Rosa, R., Prud'homme, B., Balavoine, G., 2005. Caudal and even-skipped in the annelid Platynereis dumerilii and the ancestry of posterior growth. Evol. Dev. 7, 574–587.
- Di Gregorio, A., Corbo, J.C., Levine, M., 2001. The regulation of forkhead/HNF-3beta expression in the Ciona embryo. Dev. Biol. 229, 31–43.
- Domazet-Loso, T., Tautz, D., 2003. An evolutionary analysis of orphan genes in Drosophila. Genome Res. 13, 2213–2219.
- Dunn, C.W., Giribet, G., Edgecombe, G.D., Hejnol, A., 2014. Animal phylogeny and its evolutionary implications. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 45, 371–395.
- Duprey, P., Chowdhury, K., Dressler, G.R., Balling, R., Simon, D., Guenet, J.L., Gruss, P., 1988. A mouse gene homologous to the *Drosophila* gene *caudal* is expressed in epithelial cells from the embryonic intestine. Genes Dev. 2, 1647–1654.
- Edgar, L.G., Carr, S., Wang, H., Wood, W.B., 2001. Zygotic expression of the caudal homolog pal-1 is required for posterior patterning in Caenorhabditis elegans embryogenesis. Dev. Biol. 229, 71–88.
- Edgecombe, G.D., Giribet, G., Dunn, C.W., Hejnol, A., Kristensen, R.M., Neves, R.C., Rouse, G.W., Worsaae, K., Sørensen, M.V., 2011. Higher-level metazoan relationships: recent progress and remaining questions. Org. Divers. Evol. 11, 151–172.
- Ehlers, U., 1985. Das Phylogenetische System der Plathelminthes. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Stuttgart.
- Eriksson, B.J., Tait, N.N., 2012. Early development in the velvet worm Euperipatoides kanangrensis Reid 1996 (Onychophora: Peripatopsidae). Arthropod Struct. Dev. 41, 483–493.
- Felbeck, H., 1983. Sulfide oxidation and carbon fixation by the gutless clam Solemya reidi: an animal-bacteria symbiosis. J. Comp. Physiol. B 152, 3–11.
- Ferrier, D.E.K., Minguillon, C., Cebrian, C., Garcia-Fernandez, J., 2001. Amphioxus Evx genes: implications for the evolution of the Midbrain–Hindbrain boundary and the chordate tailbud. Dev. Biol. 237, 270–281.
- Fortunato, S.A.V., Adamski, M., Ramos, O.M., Leininger, S., Liu, J., Ferrier, D.E.K., Adamska, M., 2014. Calcisponges have a ParaHox gene and dynamic expression of dispersed NK homeobox genes. Nature 514, 620–623.
- Fritzenwanker, J.H., Gerhart, J., Freeman Jr., R.M., Lowe, C.J., 2014. The fox/forkhead transcription factor family of the hemichordate Saccoglossus kowalevskii. EvoDevo 5, 17.
- Fröbius, A., Seaver, E., 2006. ParaHox gene expression in the polychaete annelid Capitella sp. I. Dev. Genes Evol. 216, 81–88.
- Fuchs, J., Martindale, M.Q., Hejnol, A., 2011. Gene expression in bryozoan larvae suggest a fundamental importance of pre-patterned blastemic cells in the bryozoan life-cycle. EvoDevo 2, 13.
- Gee, H., 1999. In Search of Deep Time: Beyond the Fossil Record to a New History of Life. The Free Press, New York.
- Gerberding, M., Patel, N.H., 2004. Gastrulation in crustaceans. In: Stern, C.D. (Ed.), Gastrulation. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York, pp. 79–89.
- Giere, O., 1985. The gutless marine tubificid *Phallodrilus planus*, a flattened oligochaete with symbiotic bacteria: results from morphological and ecological studies. Zool. Scr. 14, 279–286.
- Gilbert, S.F., Raunio, A.M., 1997. Embryology. In: Constructing the Organism. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland, MA.
- Giribet, G., Distel, D.L., Polz, M., Sterrer, W., Wheeler, W.C., 2000. Triploblastic relationships with emphasis on the acoelomates and the position of Gnathostomulida, Cycliophora, Plathelminthes, and Chaetognatha: a combined approach of 18S rDNA sequences and morphology. Syst. Biol. 49, 539–562.

Gross, J.M., McClay, D.R., 2001. The role of *brachyury* (*T*) during gastrulation

movements in the sea urchin Lytechinus variegatus. Dev. Biol. 239, 132–147. Haeckel, E., 1866. Generelle Morphologie der Organismen. Georg Reimer, Berlin.

Halanych, K.M., Bacheller, J.D., Aguinaldo, A.M., Liva, S.M., Hillis, D.M., Lake, J.A., 1995. Evidence from 18S ribosomal DNA that the lophophorates are protostome animals. Science 267, 1641–1643.

Heath, J.K., 2010. Transcriptional networks and signaling pathways that govern vertebrate intestinal development. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 90, 159–192.

Heider, K., 1909. Entwicklung von Balanoglossus clavigerus Delle Chiaje. Zool. Anz. 34, 695–704.

Hejnol, A., 2010. A twist in time –the evolution of spiral cleavage in the light of animal phylogeny. Integr. Comp. Biol. 50, 695–706.

Hejnol, A., Martindale, M.Q., 2008a. Acoel development indicates the independent evolution of the bilaterian mouth and anus. Nature 456, 382–386.

Hejnol, A., Martindale, M.Q., 2008b. Acoel development supports a simple planula-like urbilaterian. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 363, 1493–1501.

Hejnol, A., Martindale, M.Q., 2009. The mouth, the anus and the blastopore – open questions about questionable openings. In: Telford, M.J., Littlewood, D.T.J. (Eds.), Animal Evolution: Genes, Genomes, Fossils and Trees. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 33–40.

Hejnol, A., Obst, M., Stamatakis, A., Ott, M., Rouse, G.W., Edgecombe, G.D., Martinez, P., Baguñá, J., Bailly, X., Jondelius, U., Wiens, M., Müller, W.E.G., Seaver, E., Wheeler, W.C., Martindale, M.Q., Giribet, G., Dunn, C.W., 2009. Assessing the root of bilaterian animals with scalable phylogenomic methods. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 276, 4261–4270.

Hejnol, A., Schnabel, R., 2005. The eutardigrade *Thulinia stephaniae* has an indeterminate development and the potential to regulate early blastomere ablations. Dev. 132, 1349–1361.

Hejnol, A., Schnabel, R., 2006. What a couple of dimensions can do for you: comparative developmental studies using 4D microscopy–examples from tardigrade development. Integr. Comp. Biol. 46, 151–161.

Hennig, W., 1950. Grundzüge einer Theorie der phylogenetischen Systematik. Deutscher Zentralverlag, Berlin.

Hennig, W., 1966. Phylogenetic Systematics. University of Illinois Press, Urbana. Hertwig, O., 1880. Die Chaetognathen: Ihre Anatomie, Systematik und

Entwicklungsgeschichte. Verlag von Gustav Fischer, Jena. Holland, P.W.H., 2001. Beyond the Hox: how widespread is homeobox gene

clustering? J. Anat. 199, 13–23. Holland, P.W.H., 2015. Did homeobox gene duplications contribute to the

Cambrian explosion? Zool. Lett. 1, 1. Holland, P.W.H., Koschorz, B., Holland, L.Z., Herrmann, B.G., 1995. Conservation of brachyury (T) genes in amphioxus and vertebrates: developmental and

evolutionary implications. Dev. 121, 4283–4291. Hooge, M., 2001. Evolution of body–wall musculature in the Platyhelminthes

 (Acoelomorpha, Catenulida, Rhabditophora). J. Morphol. 249, 171–194.
Hryniuk, A., Grainger, S., Savory, J.G.A., Lohnes, D., 2012. Cdx function is required for maintenance of intestinal identity in the adult. Dev. Biol. 363, 426–437.

for maintenance of intestinal identity in the adult. Dev. Biol. 363, 426–437. Hui, J.H., Raible, F., Korchagina, N., Dray, N., Samain, S., Magdelenat, G., Jubin, C., Segurens, B., Balavoine, G., Arendt, D., Ferrier, D.E.K., 2009. Features of the

Segurens, B., Balavoine, G., Arendt, D., Ferrier, D.E.K., 2009. Features of the ancestral bilaterian inferred from *Platynereis dumerilii*. BMC Biol. 7, 43. Hyman, L.H., 1951. The invertebrates. Platyhelminthes and Rhynchocoela, Vol. II.

McGraw-Hill, New York. Ikuta, T., Chen, Y.C., Annunziata, R., Ting, H.C., Tung, C.H., Koyanagi, R., Tagawa, K., Humphreys, T., Fujiyama, A., Saiga, H., Satoh, N., Yu, J.K., Arnone, M.I., Su, Y.H., 2013. Identification of an intact ParaHox cluster with temporal colinearity but

altered spatial colinearity in the hemichordate *Ptychodera flava*. BMC Evol. Biol. 13, 129.

Imai, K.S., Hino, K., Yagi, K., Satoh, N., Satou, Y., 2004. Gene expression profiles of transcription factors and signaling molecules in the ascidian embryo: towards a comprehensive understanding of gene networks. Dev. 131, 4047–4058.

Imai, K.S., Satoh, N., Satou, Y., 2002. An essential role of a *FoxD* gene in notochord induction in *Ciona* embryos. Dev. 129, 3441–3453.
Iwaki, D.D., Johansen, K.A., Singer, J.B., Lengyel, J.A., 2001. *Drumstick, bowl*, and *lines*

Iwaki, D.D., Johansen, K.A., Singer, J.B., Lengyel, J.A., 2001. Drumstick, bowl, and lines are required for patterning and cell rearrangement in the Drosophila embryonic hindgut. Dev. Biol. 240, 611–626.

Iwata, F., 1985. Foregut formation of the nemerteans and its role in nemertean systematics. Am. Zool. 25, 23–36.

Jägersten, G., 1972. Evolution of the Metazoan Life Cycle. Academic Press, London. James, M., 1997. Brachiopoda: internal anatomy, embryology and development. In: Harrison, F., Woollacott, R. (Eds.), Microscopic Anatomy of Invertebrates. Wiley-Liss, Inc., New York, pp. 297–407.

Jangoux, M., 1982. Digestive systems: asteroidea. In: Jangoux, M., Lawrence, J. (Eds.), Echinoderm Nutrition. A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam, pp. 235–272.

Jennings, J., 1989. Epidermal uptake of nutrients in an unusual turbellarian parasitic in the starfish Coscinasterias calamaria in Tasmanian Waters. Biol. Bull. 176, 327–336.

Joly, J.S., Maury, M., Joly, C., Duprey, P., Boulekbache, H., Condamine, H., 1992. Expression of a zebrafish caudal homeobox gene correlates with the establishment of posterior cell lineages at gastrulation. Differentiation 50, 75–87.

Kanki, J.P., Ho, R.K., 1997. The development of the posterior body in zebrafish. Dev. 124, 881–893.

Karling, T., 1940. Zur Morphologie und Systematik der Alloecoela Cumulata und Rhabdocoela Lecithophora. Acta Zool. Fennica 26, 1–260.

Karling, T., 1965. Haplopharynx rostratus Meixner (Turbellaria) mit den Nemertinen verglichen. Zeitschr. Zool. Syst. Evol. Forsch. 3, 1–18.

Kato, K., 1943. A new polyclad with an anus. Bull. Biogeo. Soc. Jpn. 13, 47–53.

Katsuyama, Y., Sato, Y., Wada, S., Saiga, H., 1999. Ascidian tail formation requires caudal function. Dev. Biol. 213, 257–268.

Katz, S., Klepal, W., Bright, M., 2011. The Osedax trophosome: organization and ultrastructure. Biol. Bull. 220, 128–139.

Kispert, A., Herrmann, B.G., Leptin, M., Reuter, R., 1994. Homologs of the mouse Brachyury gene are involved in the specification of posterior terminal structures in Drosophila, Tribolium, Locusta. Genes Dev. 8, 2137–2150.

Knauss, E., 1979. Indication of an anal pore in Gnathostomulida. Zool. Scr. 8, 181–186.

Kondo, T., Dolle, P., Zakany, J., Duboule, D., 1996. Function of posterior HoxD genes in the morphogenesis of the anal sphincter. Dev. 122, 2651–2659.

Kozloff, E., 2007. Stages of development, from first cleavage to hatching, of an *Echinoderes* (Phylum Kinorhyncha: Class Cyclorhagida). Cah. Biol. Mar. 48, 199–206.

Kristensen, R.M., Funch, P., 2000. Micrognathozoa: a new class with complicated ke those of Rotifera and Gnathostomulida. J. Morphol. 246, 1–49.

Kulakova, M.A., Cook, C.E., Andreeva, T.F., 2008. ParaHox gene expression in larval and postlarval development of the polychaete Nereis virens (Annelida, Lophotrochozoa). BMC Dev. Biol. 8, 61.

- Lacalli, T.C., 2010. The emergence of the chordate body plan: some puzzles and problems. Acta Zool. 91, 4–10.
- Lacalli, T.C., 2014. Echinoderm conundrums: Hox genes, heterochrony, and an excess of mouths. EvoDevo 5, 46.
- Ladurner, P., Rieger, R., 2000. Embryonic muscle development of Convoluta pulchra (Turbellaria-Acoelomorpha, Platyhelminthes). Dev. Biol. 222, 359–375.

Lang, A., 1884. Die Polycladen (Seeplanarien) des Golfes von Neapel und der angrenzenden Meeresabschnitte. W. Engelmann, Leipzig.

Lankester, E., 1877. On the embryology and classification of the animal kingdom: comprising a revision of speculations relative to the origin and significance of the germ-layers. Q. J. Microsc. Sci. 2, 399–454.

Lartillot, N., Le Gouar, M., Adoutte, A., 2002a. Expression patterns of *fork head* and goosecoid homologues in the mollusc *Patella vulgata* supports the ancestry of the anterior mesendoderm across Bilateria. Dev. Genes Evol. 212, 551-561.

Lartillot, N., Lespinet, O., Vervoort, M., Adoutte, A., 2002b. Expression pattern of brachyury in the mollusc Patella vulgata suggests a conserved role in the establishment of the AP axis in Bilateria. Development 129, 1411–1421.

Laumer, C., Bekkouche, N., Kerbl, A., Hejnol, A., Dunn, C.W., Giribet, G., Worsaae, K., 2015. *Diurodrilus* is an annelid: evaluating the phylogenetic status of three rare interstitial worms within Spiralia using RNA-seq. Integr. Comp. Biol. 55, in press.

Lengyel, J.A., Iwaki, D.D., 2002. It takes guts: the *Drosophila* hindgut as a model system for organogenesis. Dev. Biol. 243, 1–19.

Love, A.C., Lee, A.E., Andrews, M.E., Raff, R.A., 2008. Co-option and dissociation in larval origins and evolution: the sea urchin larval gut. Evol. Dev. 10, 74–88.

Lowe, C.J., Wu, M., Salic, A., Evans, L., Lander, E., Stange-Thomann, N., Gruber, C.E., Gerhart, J., Kirschner, M., 2003. Anteroposterior patterning in hemichordates and the origins of the chordate nervous system. Cell 113, 853–865.

Lyons, D.C., Perry, K.J., Henry, J.Q., 2015. Gastrulation in the slipper snail Crepidula fornicata: germ layer formation, morphogenesis, and fate of the blastopore in a spiralian protostome. EvoDevo, submitted for publication.

Malakhov, V.V., 1977. The problem of general pattern in different groups of deuterostomate animals. Zh. Obs. Biol. 38, 485–499.

Marcellini, S., 2006. When Brachyury meets Smad1: the evolution of bilateral symmetry during gastrulation. BioEssays 28, 413–420.

Marcus, E., 1939. Bryozoários marinhos brasileiros III. Boletim da Faculdade de Philosofia Sciencias e Letras, Universidade de São Paulo. Zoologia 3, 111–354.

Marianes, A., Spradling, A.C., 2013. Physiological and stem cell

compartmentalization within the *Drosophila* midgut. eLife 2, e00886. Martin, B.L., Kimelman, D., 2009. Wnt signaling and the evolution of embryonic

posterior development. Curr. Biol. 19, R215–219. Martín-Durán, J.M., Amaya, E., Romero, R., 2010. Germ layer specification and axial patterning in the embryonic development of the freshwater planarian *Schmidtea polychroa*. Dev. Biol. 340, 145–158.

Martín-Durán, J.M., Hejnol, A., 2015. The study of *Priapulus caudatus* reveals conserved molecular patterning underlying different gut morphogenesis in the Ecdysozoa. BMC Biol., in press.

Martín-Durán, J.M., Janssen, R., Wennberg, S., Budd, G.E., Hejnol, A., 2012. Deuterostomic development in the protostome *Priapulus caudatus*. Curr. Biol. 22, 2161–2166.

Martín-Durán, J.M., Romero, R., 2011. Evolutionary implications of morphogenesis and molecular patterning of the blind gut in the planarian *Schmidtea polychroa*. Dev. Biol. 352, 164–176.

Martindale, M.Q., Hejnol, A., 2009. A developmental perspective: changes in the position of the blastopore during bilaterian evolution. Dev. Cell 17, 162–174.

Martindale, M.Q., Pang, K., Finnerty, J.R., 2004. Investigating the origins of triploblasty: 'mesodermal' gene expression in a diploblastic animal, the sea anemone *Nematostella vectensis* (phylum, Cnidaria; class, Anthozoa). Dev. 131, 2463–2474.

Maruoka, Y., Ohbayashi, N., Hoshikawa, M., Itoh, N., Hogan, B.L., Furuta, Y., 1998. Comparison of the expression of three highly related genes, *Fgf8*, *Fgf17* and *Fgf18*, in the mouse embryo. Mech. Dev. 74, 175–177.

Maslakova, S.A., 2010. The invention of the pilidium larva in an otherwise perfectly good spiralian phylum Nemertea. Integr. Comp. Biol. 50, 734–743.

- Masterman, A., 1898. On the theory of archimeric segmentation and its bearing upon the phyletic classification of the Coelomata. Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh 22, 270–310.
- Meyer, N.P., Boyle, M.J., Martindale, M.Q., Seaver, E.C., 2010. A comprehensive fate map by intracellular injection of identified blastomeres in the marine polychaete *Capitella teleta*. EvoDevo 1, 8.
- Mitchell, R., 1970. The evolution of a blind gut in trombiculid mites. J. Nat. Hist. 4, 221–229.
- Montgomery, T., 1904. The development and structure of the larva of *Paragordius*. Proc. Acad. Nat. Sci. Philadelphia 56, 738–755.
- Moreno, E., Permanyer, J., Martinez, P., 2011. The origin of patterning systems in bilateria-insights from the *Hox* and *ParaHox* genes in Acoelomorpha. Genomics Proteomics Bioinf. 9, 65–76.
- Nielsen, C., 1991. The development of the brachiopod *Crania* (*Neocrania*) anomala (O. F. Müller) and its phylogenetic significance. Acta Zool. 72, 7–28.
- Nielsen, C., 2009. How did indirect development with planktotrophic larvae evolve? Biol. Bull. 216, 203–215.
 Nielsen, C., Nørrevang, A., 1985. The Trochaea Theory: an example of life cycle
- phylogeny. In: Conway Morris, J.D., George, J.D., Gibson, R., Platt, H.M. (Eds.), The Origins and Relationships of Lower Invertebrates. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Norenburg, J.L., Stricker, S.A., 2002. Phylum nemertea. In: Young, C.M. (Ed.), Atlas of Marine Invertebrate Larvae. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 163–177.
- Odenthal, J., Nüsslein-Volhard, C., 1998. Fork head domain genes in zebrafish. Dev. Genes Evol. 208, 245–258.
- Page, L., 2009. Molluscan larvae: pelagic juveniles or slowly metamorphosing larvae? Biol. Bull. 216, 216–225.
- Parkin, C.A., Allen, C.E., Ingham, P.W., 2009. Hedgehog signalling is required for cloacal development in the zebrafish embryo. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 53, 45–57.
- Petersen, C.P., Reddien, P.W., 2009. Wnt signaling and the polarity of the primary body axis. Cell 139, 1056–1068.
- Philippe, H., Brinkmann, H., Copley, R.R., Moroz, L.L., Nakano, H., Poustka, A.J., Wallberg, A., Peterson, K.J., Telford, M.J., 2011. Acoelomorph flatworms are deuterostomes related to *Xenoturbella*. Nature 470, 255–258.
- Pocock, R., Ahringer, J., Mitsch, M., Maxwell, S., Woollard, A., 2004. A regulatory network of T-box genes and the *even-skipped* homologue *vab-7* controls patterning and morphogenesis in *C. elegans*. Dev. 131, 2373–2385.
- Pohl, B.S., Knöchel, W., 2002. Temporal and spatial expression patterns of *FoxD2* during the early development of *Xenopus laevis*. Mech. Dev. 111, 181–184.
- Pyati, U.J., Cooper, M.S., Davidson, A.J., Nechiporuk, A., Kimelman, D., 2006. Sustained Bmp signaling is essential for cloaca development in zebrafish. Dev. 133, 2275–2284.
- Raff, R.A., 2008. Origins of the other metazoan body plans: the evolution of larval forms. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 363, 1473–1479.
- Ransick, A., Rast, J.P., Minokawa, T., Calestani, C., Davidson, E.H., 2002. New early zygotic regulators expressed in endomesoderm of sea urchin embryos discovered by differential array hybridization. Dev. Biol. 246, 132–147.
- Rattenbury, J.C., 1954. The embryology of *Phoronopsis viridis*. J. Morphol. 95, 289–340.
- Rawlinson, K.A., 2010. Embryonic and post-embryonic development of the polyclad flatworm Maritigrella crozieri; implications for the evolution of spiralian life history traits. Front. Zool. 7, 12.
- Rawlinson, K.A., 2014. The diversity, development and evolution of polyclad flatworm larvae. EvoDevo 5, 9.
- Reisinger, E., 1961. Allgemeine Morphologie der Metazoen Morphologie der Coelenteraten, acoelomaten und pseudocoelomaten Würmer. Fortschr. Zool. 13, 1–82.
- Remane, A., 1950. Die Entstehung der Metamerie der Wirbellosen. Zool. Anz. Suppl. 14, 18–23.
- Remane, A., 1951. Die Bursa-Darmverbindung und das Problem des Enddarmes bei Turbellarien. Zool. Anz. 146, 275–291.
- Remane, A., 1971. Systeme und Entwicklungslinien in der Phylogenie. In: R. Siewing (Ed.). Methoden der Phylogenetik Universitätsbund Erlangen-Nürnbeg e. V. Erlangen, 16–28.
- Reuter, R., 1994. The gene *serpent* has homeotic properties and specifies endoderm versus ectoderm within the *Drosophila* gut. Dev. 120, 1123–1135.
- Reynaud, E.G., Peychl, J., Huisken, J., Tomancak, P., 2015. Guide to light-sheet microscopy for adventurous biologists. Nat. Methods 12, 30–34.
- Rieger, R., Tyler, S., Smith, J.P.S., Rieger, G.E., 1991. Platyhelminthes: Turbellaria. In: Harrison, F.W., Bogitsch, B.J. (Eds.), Microscopic Anatomy of Invertebrates. John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp. 7–140.
- Roberts, D.J., 2000. Molecular mechanisms of development of the gastrointestinal tract. Dev. Dyn. 219, 109–120.
- Röttinger, E., Martindale, M.Q., 2011. Ventralization of an indirect developing hemichordate by NiCl₂ suggests a conserved mechanism of dorso-ventral (D/V) patterning in Ambulacraria (hemichordates and echinoderms). Dev. Biol. 354, 173–190.
- Ruiz-Trillo, I., Riutort, M., Littlewood, D.T.J., Herniou, E.A., Baguña, J., 1999. Acoel flatworms: earliest extant bilaterian metazoans, not members of Platyhelminthes. Science 283, 1919–1923.
- Ruvkun, G., Hobert, O., 1998. The taxonomy of developmental control in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Science 282, 2033–2041.
- Ryan, J.F., Mazza, M.E., Pang, K., Matus, D.Q., Baxevanis, A.D., Martindale, M.Q., Finnerty, J.R., 2007. Pre-bilaterian origins of the Hox cluster and the Hox code: evidence from the sea anemone, *Nematostella vectensis*. PLoS One 2, e153.
- Sacks, M., 1955. Observations on the embryology of an aquatic gastrotrich, *Lepidodermalla squamata* (Dujardin, 1841). J. Morphol. 96, 473–495.

- Salvini-Plawen, L., 1978. On the origin and evolution of the lower Metazoa. Zeitschr Zool. Syst. Evol. Forsch. 16, 40–88.
- Salvini-Plawen, L.v., Splechtna, H., 1979. Zur Homologie der Keimblätter. Zeitschr. Zool. Syst. Evol. Forsch. 17, 10–30.
- Samadi, L, Steiner, G., 2010. Conservation of ParaHox genes' function in patterning of the digestive tract of the marine gastropod *Gibbula varia*. BMC Dev. Biol. 10, 74.
- Schechter, J., Lucero, J., 1968. A light and electron microscopic investigation of the digestive system of the Ophiuroid ophiuroiderma panamensis (brittle star). J. Morphol. 124, 451–481.
- Schmidt-Rhaesa, A., 2007. The Evolution of Organ Systems. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York.
- Schoepfer-Sterrer, C., 1974. Five new species of Urodasys and remarks on the terminology of the genital organs in Macrodasyidae (Gastrotricha). Cah. Biol. Mar. 15, 229–254.
- Scholtz, G., 2005. Homology and ontogeny: pattern and process in comparative developmental biology. Theor. Biosci. 124, 121–143.
- Scholz, C.B., Technau, U., 2003. The ancestral role of brachyury: expression of NemBra1 in the basal cnidarian Nematostella vectensis (Anthozoa). Dev. Genes Evol. 212, 563-570.
- Schulz, C., Schröder, R., Hausdorf, B., Wolff, C., Tautz, D., 1998. A *caudal* homologue in the short germ band beetle *Tribolium* shows similarities to both, the *Drosophila* and the vertebrate *caudal* expression patterns. Dev. Genes Evol. 208, 283–289.
- Schulze, J., Schierenberg, E., 2011. Evolution of embryonic development in nematodes. EvoDevo 2, 18.
- Seaver, E.C., Kaneshige, L.M., 2006. Expression of 'segmentation' genes during larval and juvenile development in the polychaetes *Capitella* sp. I and *H. elegans*. Dev. Biol. 289, 179–194.
- Sedgwick, A., 1884. On the origin of metameric segmentation and some other morphological questions. Q. J. Microsc. Sci. 24, 43–82.
- Seifert, A.W., Bouldin, C.M., Choi, K.S., Harfe, B.D., Cohn, M.J., 2009. Multiphasic and tissue-specific roles of sonic hedgehog in cloacal septation and external genitalia development. Development 136, 3949–3957.

Shapiro, E., Biezuner, T., Linnarsson, S., 2013. Single-cell sequencing-based technologies will revolutionize whole-organism science. Nat. Rev. Genet. 14, 618–630.

- Sheaffer, K.L., Kaestner, K.H., 2012. Transcriptional networks in liver and intestinal development. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect. Biol. 4, a008284.
- Shimeld, S.M., 1997. Characterisation of amphioxus *HNF*-3 genes: conserved expression in the notochord and floor plate. Dev. Biol. 183, 74–85.
- Singer, J.B., Harbecke, R., Kusch, T., Reuter, R., Lengyel, J.A., 1996. Drosophila brachyenteron regulates gene activity and morphogenesis in the gut. Dev. 122, 3707–3718.
- Skaling, B., MacKinnon, B., 1988. The absorptive surfaces of Nectonema sp. (Nematomorpha: Nectonematoidea) from Pandalus montagui: histology, ultrastructure, and absorptive capabilities of the body wall and intestine. Can. J. Zool. 66, 289–295.
- Smith, J., Tyler, S., 1985. The acoel turbellarians: kingpins of metazoan evolution or a specialized offshoot? In: Conway Morris, S., George, J.D., Gibson, R., Platt, H.M. (Eds.), The Origins and Relationships of Lower Invertebrates. Calderon Press, Oxford, pp. 123–142.
- Solnica-Krezel, L., Sepich, D.S., 2012. Gastrulation: making and shaping germ layers. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 28, 687–717.
- Srivastava, M., Mazza-Curll, K.L., van Wolfswinkel, J.C., Reddien, P.W., 2014. Whole-body acoel regeneration is controlled by Wnt and Bmp-Admp signaling. Curr. Biol. 24, 1107–1113.
- Stainier, D.Y., 2002. A glimpse into the molecular entrails of endoderm formation. Genes Dev. 16, 893–907.
- Stainier, D.Y., 2005. No organ left behind: tales of gut development and evolution. Science 307, 1902–1904.
- Stathopoulos, A., Tam, B., Ronshaugen, M., Frasch, M., Levine, M., 2004. Pyramus and thisbe: FGF genes that pattern the mesoderm of *Drosophila* embryos. Genes Dev. 18, 687–699.
- Steinböck, O., 1924. Untersuchungen über die

Geschlaechtstrakt-Darm-Verbindung bei Turbellarien nebst einem Beitrag zur Morphologie des Trikladendarmes. Zeitschr. Morph. Ökol. Tiere 2, 461–504. Steinböck, O., 1966. Die Hofsteniiden (Turbellaria acoela). Zeitschr. Zool. Syst. Evol.

- Forsch. 4, 58–195. Stern, C.D., 2004. Gastrulation: From Cells to Embryo. Cold Spring Harbor Press,
- New York.
- Stokes, M.D., Holland, N.D., 1995. Embryos and larvae of a lancelet, Branchiostoma floridae, from hatching through metamorphosis: growth in the laboratory and external morphology. Acta Zool. 76, 105–120.
- Strathmann, R.R., 1993. Hypotheses on the origins of marine larvae. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 24, 89–117.
- Stricker, S.A., 1989. Settlement and metamorphosis of the marine bryozoan Membranipora membranacea. Bull. Mar. Sci. 45, 387–405.
- Struck, T.H., Wey-Fabrizius, A.R., Golombek, A., Hering, L., Weigert, A., Bleidorn, C., Klebow, S., Iakovenko, N., Hausdorf, B., Petersen, M., Kuck, P., Herlyn, H., Hankeln, T., 2014. Platyzoan paraphyly based on phylogenomic data supports a noncoelomate ancestry of spiralia. Mol. Biol. Evol. 31, 1833–1849.
- Tagawa, K., Humphreys, T., Satoh, N., 1998. Novel pattern of brachyury gene expression in hemichordate embryos. Mech. Dev. 75, 139–143.
- Takacs, C.M., Moy, V.N., Peterson, K.J., 2002. Testing putative hemichordate homologues of the chordate dorsal nervous system and endostyle: expression

of *NK2.1* (*TTF-1*) in the acorn worm *Ptychodera flava* (Hemichordata, Ptychoderidae). Evol. Dev. 4, 405–417.

Takada, N., Goto, T., Satoh, N., 2002. Expression pattern of the *brachyury* gene in the arrow worm *Paraspadella gotoi* (Chaetognatha). Genesis 32, 240–245.

Technau, U., 2001. *Brachyury*, the blastopore and the evolution of the mesoderm. BioEssays 23, 788–794.

Technau, U., Scholz, C.B., 2003. Origin and evolution of endoderm and mesoderm. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 47, 531–539.

Teuchert, G., 1968. Zur Fortpflanzung und Entwicklung der Macrodasyoidea (Gastrotricha). Zeitschr. Morph. Ökol. Tiere 63, 343–418.

Tu, Q., Brown, C.T., Davidson, E.H., Oliveri, P., 2006. Sea urchin forkhead gene family: phylogeny and embryonic expression. Dev. Biol. 300, 49–62.

Turner, D.A., Rue, P., Mackenzie, J.P., Davies, E., Martinez Arias, A., 2014. Brachyury cooperates with Wnt/beta-catenin signalling to elicit primitive-streak-like behaviour in differentiating mouse embryonic stem cells. BMC Biol. 12, 63.

van den Biggelaar, J.A.M., Edsinger-Gonzales, E., Schram, F.R., 2002. The improbability of dorso-ventral axis inversion during animal evolution, as presumed by Geoffroy Saint Hilaire. Contrib. Zool. 71 http://www.ctoz.nl/ vol71/nr01/a03

Venkatesh, T.V., Holland, N.D., Holland, L.Z., Su, M.T., Bodmer, R., 1999. Sequence and developmental expression of amphioxus *AmphiNk2-1*: insights into the evolutionary origin of the vertebrate thyroid gland and forebrain. Dev. Genes Evol. 209, 254–259.

von Graff, L., 1891. Die Organisation der Turbellaria Acoela. Verlag von Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig.

- Weigel, D., Jürgens, G., Kuttner, F., Seifert, E., Jäckle, H., 1989. The homeotic gene fork head encodes a nuclear protein and is expressed in the terminal regions of the Drosophila embryo. Cell 57, 645–658.
- Wey-Fabrizius, A.R., Herlyn, H., Rieger, B., Rosenkranz, D., Witek, A., Welch, D.B., Ebersberger, I., Hankeln, T., 2014. Transcriptome data reveal Syndermatan relationships and suggest the evolution of endoparasitism in Acanthocephala via an epizoic stage. PLoS One 9, e88618.

- Wilson, E., 1894. The embryological criterion of homology. Biol. Lectures Woods Hole 3, 101–124.
- Witek, A., Herlyn, H., Ebersberger, I., Mark Welch, D.B., Hankeln, T., 2009. Support for the monophyletic origin of gnathifera from phylogenomics. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 53, 1037–1041.
- Witek, A., Herlyn, H., Meyer, A., Boell, L., Bucher, G., Hankeln, T., 2008. EST based phylogenomics of Syndermata questions monophyly of Eurotatoria. BMC Evol. Biol. 8, 345.
- Wolpert, L., 1992. Gastrulation and the evolution of development. Development (Suppl.), 7–13.
- Woollard, A., Hodgkin, J., 2000. The Caenorhabditis elegans fate-determining gene mab-9 encodes a T-box protein required to pattern the posterior hindgut. Genes Dev. 14, 596–603.

Wu, L.H., Lengyel, J.A., 1998. Role of caudal in hindgut specification and gastrulation suggests homology between *Drosophila* amnioproctodeal invagination and vertebrate blastopore. Development 125, 2433–2442.

- Yasuo, H., Satoh, N., 1994. An ascidian homolog of the mouse *brachyury* (T) gene is expressed exclusively in notochord cells at the fate restricted stage. Dev. Growth Differ. 36, 9–18.
- Yonge, C., 1937. Evolution and adaptation in the digestive system of the Metazoa. Biol. Rev. 12, 87–114.
- Yu, J.K., Holland, N.D., Holland, L.Z., 2002. An amphioxus winged helix/forkhead gene: AmphiFoxD: insights into vertebrate neural crest evolution. Dev. Dyn. 225, 289–297.

Zelinka, C., 1891. Studien über R\u00e4derthiere. III. Zur entwicklungsgeschichte der R\u00e4derthiere nebst Bemerkungen \u00fcber ihre Anatomie und Biologie. Z. Wiss. Zool. 53, 1–159.

Zorn, A.M., Wells, J.M., 2009. Vertebrate endoderm development and organ formation. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 25, 221–251.